THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

OCT 17 2014

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000133
Case No.: 2004CP-25-00267

Willie Homer Stephens, Guardian ad Litem
for Lillian C., a minor

Petitioner,

v.

CSX Transportation, Inc. and the South Carolina
Department of Transportation,.....Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

John E. Parker
J. Paul Detrick
Grahame E. Holmes
Matthew V. Creech
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK, P.A.
Post Office Box 457
Hampton, South Carolina 29924
P: 803-943-2111
F: 803-914-2014

-- & --

Carl H. Jacobson
URICCHIO, HOWE, KRELL,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DENIAL OF STEPHENS' DIRECTED VERDICT AND J.N.O.V. MOTIONS BASED UPON MISINTERPRETATION OF PROCEDURAL RULES, EXISTING PRECEDENT, AND MISINTERPRETATION OF THE RECORD AT HAND?
2. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S FLAWED, ERRONEOUS, AND CLEARLY PREJUDICIAL JURY CHARGE AND APPLIED THE INCORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Willie Homer Stephens, Guardian ad Litem for Lillian C. (hereinafter, "Stephens") filed his Summons and Complaint in the Hampton County Court of Common Pleas on April 27, 2004. The Complaint alleges negligence causes of action against CSX Transportation, Inc. (hereinafter, "CSXT") and the South Carolina Department of Transportation (hereinafter, "SCDOT") arising out of an automobile/train collision on February 3, 2004, which resulted in brain injuries to Lillian C., a minor, as set forth in various particulars. The complaint alleges *inter alia*, that the accident was caused by CSXT's failure to properly warn the Colvin vehicle at the crossing by properly sounding its horn and/or that the accident was caused by CSXT's failure to maintain its right-of-way so as to create proper sight distances at the crossing. (R. p. 14). Against SCDOT, Appellant alleges, *inter alia*, that the SCDOT failed to warn motorists of the dangerous crossing. (Id.). Each defendant generally denied the allegations of the Complaint and asserted affirmative defenses.

The case was tried in Hampton County from July 28, 2008 through August 14, 2008. The jury found for the Respondents. Stephens was granted ten (10) days to file post-trial motions and thereafter timely moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict pursuant to Rule 50(b), SCRPC, or alternatively, a new trial pursuant to Rules 59, SCRPC. The court heard arguments on Stephens' post-trial motions on September 11, 2008, and denied these motions by written Order dated and filed March 30, 2009. (R. pp. 1-9). Stephens timely filed his Notice of Appeal on May 12, 2009. On July 25, 2012, the Court of Appeals issued its Opinion Number 5008, which affirmed the trial court's denial of Stephens' directed verdict and JNOV motions, the trial court's evidentiary rulings, and the trial court's charge to the jury. Stephens timely filed a Petition for Rehearing and

Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc on August 9, 2012. The Petition was denied by Order of the Court of Appeals on December 11, 2012. Stephens timely filed his Petition for Certiorari and this Court granted the same on September 11, 2014.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Willie Homer Stephens's granddaughter, Lillian C., was twelve years old at the time of the collision of February 3, 2004. Lillian was a passenger in her mother Tonia's Ford Explorer. (R. p. 456). Lillian was riding with her mother to pick up her mother's boyfriend Carlos Terry from work. (R. p. 410). Lillian sat in the right rear passenger seat. (R. p. 456).

Tonia drove down Hill Road toward S.C. Highway 68. (R. pp. 410-411). Just before Hill Road intersects with S.C. Highway 68, there is a CSXT railroad grade crossing. (R. pp. 411-412). The railroad crossing is controlled by a stop sign and does not have gates or lights. (R. p. 411). The stop sign is 36 feet from the near rail of the railroad track. (R. p. 681). There is a stop line 117 inches, or 9.75 feet, prior to the near rail of the railroad track. (Id.) The railroad track crosses Hill Road at an 88 degree angle. (R. p. 102). Tonia stopped at the stop sign for the railroad crossing. She looked to her right and to her left. Her view was obstructed to her right due to vegetation on CSXT's right-of-way. (R. pp. 412; 415-417). She pulled forward, stopped again, and again looked to her right and her left. (R. pp. 412-413). She could see for a distance of three to four hundred feet to her right due to the vegetation in CSXT's right-of-way. (R. p. 416). After stopping the second time and not hearing or seeing a train, Mrs. Colvin pulled forward and began to cross the track. (R. pp. 412-413; 415-416; 419-420).

When Mrs. Colvin pulled forward onto the track she heard the train horn, hit the gas, and was hit by a CSXT train just before she cleared the track. (R. pp. 412-413). The train was traveling at 42 miles per hour. (R. p. 943, 11.9-20). When the vehicle was hit it

spun around and came to rest on the side of the track opposite from the stop sign where she had stopped. (R. p. 414). Lillian was slumped over in the back seat with a trickle of blood coming from her nose. (R. pp. 414; 442).

Emergency personnel responded and Lillian was air lifted from the scene to the Medical University of South Carolina. (R. p. 421-422). Lillian was combative at MUSC and flailed about. Her medical providers induced a coma. Lillian remained in a coma for approximately thirty days. (R. p. 430). During the coma, Lillian remained on a ventilator. (R. p. 431). A hole was drilled through her skull to relieve the pressure building around her brain. (Id).

When she woke from the coma, Lillian was not able to speak or walk. (R. pp. 432-434). She stayed at MUSC for approximately one month after she woke from the coma. (R. p. 433). Over the course of that month, she received speech therapy and eventually regained a great deal, but not all, of her speech. (R. pp. 433-436). She had to relearn how to feed herself. (R. pp. 434-435).

Lillian left MUSC in a wheelchair and was transferred by ambulance to Scottish Rite Children's Hospital in Atlanta, Georgia. (R. pp. 434-437). She received physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy for about a week in Atlanta before her mother requested that Lillian be allowed to return home and complete her therapy at the Colleton Regional Hospital. (R. p. 437). For the next several months, Lillian received home health care and therapy at Colleton Regional Hospital. (R. p. 443). Lillian's medical bills total \$271,669.06. (R. p. 457).

When she returned home, Lillian had violent outbursts. (R. p. 438). She had episodes where she hallucinated. (R. p. 439). She constantly made inappropriate comments,

spoke without thinking, and used curse words. (R. pp. 439-441). She also had problems with bed wetting. (R. pp. 441-442). She suffered short term memory loss, impaired judgment, and an inability to concentrate. (R. pp. 446-449). She also suffers from a drop foot. (R. p. 444).

Prior to the wreck, as a twelve year old sixth grader, Lillian was in advanced classes and performed well. (R. p. 542-543). She cooperated with her teachers, behaved well in class, and paid attention to her teachers. (R. p. 542). She was able to concentrate in class. (Id). Lillian was an Honor Roll student. (R. p. 556). Following the collision, Lillian missed the remainder of her sixth grade year. (R. p. 445). When she started back to school in fall of 2005, she was placed in basic classes. (R. p. 544; pp. 582-583). Lillian struggled academically after the wreck. (R. p. 545; 557), required special accommodations, and was often confused in class. (R. pp. 545-546; p. 584).

In 2005, the Colleton County School District Department of Special Services evaluated Lillian to determine whether she was eligible to receive special education services. (R. pp. 553-567). Lillian was assessed to determine whether she had a disability that affected her educational performance. (R. p. 553). Over a period of seven months, Lillian underwent a psycho-educational evaluation. (R. p. 555). Lillian's pre-injury records were reviewed, her teachers were interviewed, she was observed in class, and she underwent several standardized tests, including an IQ test. (R. pp. 553-567). Lillian's overall IQ was in the first percentile. (R. p. 561).

The Colleton County School District Department of Special Services determined Lillian was eligible for special education services for the disability of traumatic brain

injury. (R. p. 566). An Individualized Education Plan ("I.E.P.") was developed for Lillian. (R. p. 567). Under the I.E.P., Lillian was provided with a resource teacher and a resource period every day to help her with her weak areas, such as math and writing, and to have thirty minutes a week to work individually with a physical therapist. (R. p. 571). Lillian's teachers also made special accommodations for her. She was allowed extra time on assignments and was allowed to take her work and tests home. (R. p. 584-585; 597-598). Despite her I.E.P. and special accommodations, Lillian continued to struggle academically. (R. p. 584-585; 595).

Years prior to this collision, in 2000, CSXT implemented a program to eliminate sight obstructions at railroad grade crossings. (R. p. 153; 1622; 1623). Under the program, CSXT was to clear cut all vegetation on its right-of-way at all passive railroad grade crossings for a distance of 350 feet from the roadway. (R. p. 153; 171-172; 1622; 1623). South Carolina was the top priority in the timing of the railroad grade crossing clearing program. (R. p. 156). The clearing program was to begin in South Carolina in May of 2001. (R. p. 162; p. 1624). Then it was delayed to June of 2001. (R. p. 163; p. 1625). The clearing was to be completed within 158 days of the start date. (R. p. 164, p. 1625). The start date was pushed back yet again. (R. p. 166; p. 1629). However, all passive railroad grade crossings in Hampton and Allendale Counties were to be cleared by October 9, 2001. (R. p. 167; p. 1631). The clearing program was partially completed in South Carolina in 2001, but not to CSXT's original specifications due to problems with CSXT's contractor. (R. p. 164; p. 1632). Through all of this, the Hill Road crossing was not cleared. (R. p. 184).

In 2003, CSXT hired a different contractor, DeAngelo Brothers, in an effort to finish the crossing clearing program. (R. p. 177-178; p. 1640-1641). CSXT also changed the specifications for the clearing program. (R. pp. 178-180; 1640-1642). The new specifications required that CSXT's entire right-of-way be cleared for a distance of 350 feet from the edge of the roadway. (R. pp. 178-180; p. 1642). The clearing of the right of way was then to be tapered in a straight line so that at a distance of 650 feet from the roadway all vegetation would be cleared for a distance of twenty eight (28) feet from the centerline of the track. (R. pp. 178-180; pp. 1642-1643).

The Hill Road crossing was partially cleared on September 10, 2003. (R. p. 184). However, the trees in the northwest quadrant of the crossing, the direction the train was coming from, were not cleared on September 10, 2003 due to a dispute with a landowner over ownership of the trees. (R. p. 185-186; p. 1647). On February 3, 2004, the date of the subject collision, the crossing still had not been cleared as required under CSXT's crossing program, and trees in the northwest quadrant of the crossing (the direction the train was coming from) were not cleared due to the dispute with the landowner over the trees. (R. p. 185-186; p. 1647). Trees in this quadrant were located as close as 16 feet to the near rail, which would require a motorist to get closer than 15 feet of the near rail before he or she would have an adequate view of a train approaching from the west. (R. pp. 1619-1621; pp. 200-244; p. 682).

On February 3, 2004, the date of the subject collision, the northwest quadrant had not been cleared as required under CSXT's crossing program. Also, as CSXT admitted at trial, the engineer did not sound the horn of the train for the 1,500 feet prior to the crossing as required under South Carolina law.

ARGUMENTS

The Court of Appeals' Opinion No. 5008 of July 25, 2012 affirmed the trial court's rulings on numerous issues. Reversal by this Court is warranted. The Opinion below errs in its conclusions interpreting Rule 50, SCRCP and issue preservation at the directed verdict stage. As to the issues raised concerning the erroneous and prejudicial jury charge, the partial dissent to the Opinion is correct and the fatally flawed jury instruction must be reversed.

First, the Court below misapprehended the record before it and misapplied the law of South Carolina with regard to the preservation of issues on appeal. In ruling that Stephens failed to preserve the trial court's denial of his directed verdict motion, the Opinion directly conflicts with this Court's opinion of Henderson v. St. Francis Community Hosp., 295 S.C. 441, 369 S.E.2d 652 (Ct. App. 1988). Furthermore, the Opinion's literal interpretation of the phrase "close of all the evidence" within Rule 50(b), SCRCP, is inconsistent with the plain language of Rule 50(a), SCRCP, and unsupported by South Carolina precedent. The effect of the ruling is that a new, never before established procedural rule for issue preservation has been established by the Stephens Opinion. Based on established standards, Stephens' directed verdict motions as to both the horn and vegetation theories against CSXT should be considered by this Court. As to the directed verdict and J.N.O.V. issues, reversal is necessary because the Opinion fails to give effect to the factual stipulation of the parties and the effect of that stipulation on the parties. On this issue too, the Opinion does not address or misapprehends the record, which requires a finding that the trial court erred by failing to find as a matter of law that CSXT breached the statutory duty found at S.C. Code Ann. § 58-15-910.

Reversal is also required because the Court of Appeals chose to not address issues and arguments concerning the error-filled jury charge by considering the jury charge as a

whole. By claiming that certain jury charges need not be addressed, the Opinion simply avoided addressing the merits of a fatally flawed and confusing jury charge by which Stephens was actually prejudiced. For the reasons that follow, the Opinion below should be reversed.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DENIAL OF STEPHENS' DIRECTED VERDICT AND J.N.O.V. MOTIONS BASED UPON MISINTERPRETATION OF PROCEDURAL RULES, EXISTING PRECEDENT, AND OF THE RECORD.

On both theories of negligence asserted against CSXT, the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict as to CSXT's duties and the breach thereof. As to Stephens' horn sounding and vegetation sight obstruction theories, the Court of Appeals erroneously ruled that Stephens failed to preserve the issue for appeal by failing to renew his directed verdict motion "at the close of all evidence."

A. To Require Stephens to Renew His Directed Verdict Motion After Presenting Reply Evidence Misapprehends Rule 50, SCRPC, and South Carolina Precedent Addressing the Purpose of a Directed Verdict Motion; Furthermore, the Court of Appeals Created New Procedural Law for Which No Authority Existed at the Time of this Trial.

Stephens was not required to renew his directed verdict motion at the close of his own rebuttal case in order to have the issue considered through a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Neither the Court of Appeals, nor CSXT, nor the DOT, have cited any authority to support the position and ruling adopted by the Court of Appeals which requires a plaintiff to renew a directed verdict motion after he has presented reply or rebuttal testimony after the defendants have rested. In fact, Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 640 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2006), which the Court of Appeals relied upon as authority to find waiver, actually highlights the different procedural posture of this case and the Court of Appeals' misapprehension of the requirements of directed verdict motions.

First, the plain language of Rule 50(a), SCRPC, instructs as to when, and under what circumstances, a directed verdict motion may be made: "A party who moves for a directed verdict at the close of the *evidence offered by an opponent* may offer evidence without having reserved the right to do so... ." (emphasis added). Rule 50(a), SCRPC. Thus, the plain language of the rule verifies the practice in this state, that after an opponent has presented its evidence, the other party makes its directed verdict motion.

Rule 50(b), SCRPC, states as follows:

Whenever a motion for a directed verdict made at the *close of all the evidence* is denied or for any reason is not granted, the court is deemed to have submitted the action to the jury subject to a later determination of the legal questions raised by the motion.

Id. (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held that the phrase "at the close of all evidence," requires a renewal of the directed verdict motion after Stephens' rebuttal testimony, though the Respondents produced no more evidence or testimony at that time. While such a literal construction of the plain meaning of the phrase "at the close of all the evidence" is appealing in its simplicity, the Court of Appeals' construction does not harmonize with the plain language of Rule 50(a), which requires that motions be made at the close "of the evidence offered by an opponent." Rule 50(a), SCRPC. Furthermore, not one South Carolina case procedurally frames Rule 50 (b)'s phrase "at the close of all evidence" as anything other than the equivalent of the close of "the evidence offered by an opponent" as stated in Rule 50(a), SCRPC.

Referring back to the lone citation to authority offered by CSXT on this point is instructive. See, Henderson v. St. Francis Community Hosp., 295 S.C. 441, 369 S.E.2d 652 (Ct. App. 1988) (reversed on other grounds). Henderson reflects precisely how our Appellate Courts historically have interpreted the phrase "the close of all evidence" under Rule 50(b).

In Henderson, a premises liability case, the plaintiff appealed, *inter alia*, the trial court's denial of her JNOV motion against the designer of the parking lot at issue, Snoddy & McCullough. The Court of Appeals held that the issue was not preserved for review. The Court of Appeals arrived at the conclusion because the plaintiff's motion for directed verdict was premature because when made, only two of four defendants had rested. After the remaining two defendants rested, Plaintiff failed to renew the directed verdict motion. The plaintiff, therefore, failed to make a directed verdict motion at the close of "all of the evidence," which in that case clearly meant at the close of the evidence of all opponents, or all defendants. The Court of Appeals explained:

We need not consider this issue, however, because Henderson failed, as required by Rule 50(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, to make a directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence. (Citation omitted).

Henderson made her motion for directed verdict after St. Francis and Sinine closed but before Snoddy & McCulloch presented its evidence. Henderson, however, did not renew her motion after the close of all the evidence.

Clearly, Henderson's motion was premature and improper. (Citations omitted).

We therefore hold that, when a plaintiff, after moving for a directed verdict at the end of the case presented by one defendant, fails to renew his motion at the close of all the evidence, he waived his right to move for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (Citation omitted). "The rule that a judgment notwithstanding the verdict may not be granted unless the moving party moved for a directed verdict at the close of all the evidence is a strict one." (Citation omitted).

In holding that a premature motion for directed verdict cannot support a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, we note the trial court in no way prevented Henderson from also renewing her directed verdict motion, the trial court never suggested to Henderson that the renewal of the motion would not be necessary to preserve her rights, and the evidence offered by Snoddy & McCulloch following

Henderson's unrenewed motion for directed verdict was neither brief nor inconsequential. (Citation omitted).

Id., 295 S.C. 441, 446-447, 369 S.E.2d 652, 655-656.

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