THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

CARMEN TEVIS MULLEN, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2013-000133

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

William Homer Stephens, Guardian ad Litem
for Lillian C., a minor. Petitioner,

VS

CSX Transportation, Inc., and the South Carolina
Department of Transportation Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC.

Ronald K. Wray, II (S.C. Bar #65246)
Thomas Vanderbloemen (S.C. Bar #75784)
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
55 Beattie Place; Suite 1200
Greenville, SC 29603
(864) 271-9580

James W. Purcell
Fulcher Hagler, LLP
P. O. Box 1477
Augusta, GA 30903-1477

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

B. Stephens' Failure to Move for a Directed Verdict at the Close of All the Evidence Precludes His Challenge to the Jury's Verdict.

Even if it were permissible to grant a verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict notwithstanding the existence of fact issues on elements of the claim, Stephens failed to make a directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence, and, therefore, his motion for JNOV and this Court's review of the denial of that motion are precluded by the plain language of Rule 50(b).

Rule 50(b) states that “[w]hen a motion for a directed verdict made *at the close of all the evidence* is denied or for any reason is not granted, the court is deemed to have submitted the action to the jury subject to a later determination of the legal questions raised by the motion.” Rule 50(b), SCRCP (emphasis added). As this Court recently confirmed, this means that “[w]hen a party fails to renew a motion for a directed verdict *at the close of all evidence*, he waives his right to move for JNOV.” *RFT Mgmt.*, 399 S.C. at 331, 732 S.E.2d at 170 (emphasis added). The rule that a party may challenge a jury's verdict only if it moved for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence is well-known and universally enforced. *See, e.g., Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 19-20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 496 (Ct. App. 2006) (explaining that the failure to renew a motion for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence “preclude[s] ... review[] [of] the denial of the motion on appeal”); *Henderson v. St. Francis Community Hosp.*, 295 S.E.

441, 369 S.E.2d 652, 655-56 (Ct. App. 1988) (“The rule that a judgment notwithstanding the verdict may not be granted unless the moving party moved for a directed verdict at the close of all the evidence is a strict one.”), *overruled on other grounds*, 303 S.C. 177, 399 S.E.2d 767 (1990); Flanagan, *supra* at 405 (“emphasiz[ing]” that “a motion for a directed verdict at the close of all the evidence is a prerequisite for a” later challenge to the jury’s verdict).

Because Stephens did not make a motion for directed verdict “at the close of all the evidence” as the rule requires, the Trial Court and Court of Appeals properly concluded that he had not preserved his right to seek JNOV or appellate review of the sufficiency of the evidence.

1. Stephens Argues for a Distortion of the Plain Language of the Rule.

Done in by the “literal construction of the plain meaning of the phrase ‘at the close of all the evidence,’” Pet’r’s Br., at 9, and in contradiction of the clear case law applying that plain meaning, Stephens attempts to introduce ambiguity where none exists. To do so, Stephens focuses on an unrelated provision of Rule 50(a) in a curious argument claiming that a party seeking JNOV is required to move for directed verdict only at the close of the evidence “offered by an opponent.” *Id.* According to Stephens, the rule “requires that [directed verdict] motions be made at the close ‘of the evidence offered by an opponent,’” and therefore the phrase “close of all the evidence” in Rule 50(b) is “the equivalent of the close of ‘the evidence offered by an opponent.’” *Id.* (emphasis added).

This argument fails on its face. The term “evidence offered by an opponent” in Rule 50(a) is *not* “equivalent” to the term “all the evidence” in Rule 50(b). If the authors of Rule 50 wished the varying terminology in subsections (a) and (b) to be “equivalent,”

they would have used the same language. That they used different language defeats Stephens' interpretation. *See, e.g.,* Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law* 171, 173 (2012) (“a material variation in terms suggests a variation in meaning,” particularly in statutes “enacted at the same time and deal[ing] with the same subject”); *United States v. Molina-Gazca*, 571 F.3d 470, 474 (5th Cir. 2009) (“[V]ariations of [terms] in close proximity[] suggest[] that the terms carry different meanings.”).

Further, Stephens' premise that the quoted language from subsection (a) imposes a timing requirement on the filing of a directed verdict motion is incorrect; it imposes no requirement and, therefore, need not be “harmonize[d],” Pet'r's Br., at 9, with the renewal requirement of subsection (b). The role played by the phrase on which Stephens focuses—“who moves for a directed verdict at the close of the evidence offered by an opponent”—is only to modify the subject of the sentence, “[a] party”; it says nothing about *when* a party must file a directed verdict motion. To the contrary, “all” that the quoted language “relates to is the right of a party to offer evidence if a motion for a directed verdict is denied.” *William H. Porter, Inc. v. Edwards*, 616 A.2d 838, 841 (Del. 1992) (rejecting identical argument based on identical language).⁹

⁹ This reading is confirmed by the historical origins of the sentence, which first appeared in the original federal rule 50(a), enacted in 1938, and sought “to do away with the prior federal rule requiring an express reservation of the right to offer evidence.” Alexander Holtzoff, *Origins and Sources of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure*, 30 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1057, 1076 (1955) (citing 3 Moore, *Federal Practice* § 3103 (1938)); *see also Fed. Life Ins. Co. v. Rumpel*, 102 F.2d 120, 124 (6th Cir. 1939) (Simons, J., dissenting) (“Rule 50 of the Rules of Civil Procedure ... now frees litigants from the tragic consequences of motions for directed verdict made without reservation.”). The entire text of the federal rule was adopted in South Carolina. *See* Rule 50, SCRCF, note (1985). As this history makes clear, the purpose and effect of the sentence relied on by Stephens is to *eliminate* a requirement, not create one.

The fallacy in Stephens' interpretation is also demonstrated by the following example. If Stephens' argument that a party need only move for directed verdict at the close of his opponent's evidence were correct, then a defendant would only need to move for directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff's case and would not be required to renew his motion at the end of the trial. Obviously, this is not the rule, and our courts have regularly found waiver when parties have done just that. *See, e.g., Henderson*, 369 S.E.2d at 655-56; *Smith v. Ridgeway Chemicals, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 303, 395 S.E.2d 742, 743-44 (Ct. App. 1990)("[I]nasmuch as no motion was made for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the trial, no motion for relief as a matter of law is available after the jury verdict.").¹⁰

2. Stephens Misreads Henderson.

In support of his reading of Rule 50, Stephens relies solely on the Court of Appeals' decision in *Henderson*. *Henderson*, however, did not in any way—expressly or implicitly—endorse the reading of Rule 50 for which Stephens argues. In *Henderson*, a plaintiff sued three defendants: A, B, and C. After defendants A and B presented their cases, but before defendant C presented its case, the plaintiff moved for directed verdicts. *See* 295 S.C. at 446, 369 S.E.2d 655 56. The trial court denied the motion, after which

¹⁰ At one point, Stephens concedes that courts in this state hold that the renewal of a directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence is a prerequisite to the filing of a JNOV motion, but contends that this requirement applies only to defendants. *See* Pet'r's Br. 12. Stephens does not cite any authority for the proposition that Rule 50 operates differently for plaintiffs than it does for defendants, and there is none. As Chief Justice Toal has explained, "[a] motion for JNOV may not be granted unless the *moving party* moves for a directed verdict at the close of all the evidence." J.H. Toal, et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 74 (2d ed. 2002) (emphasis added); *accord RFT Mgmt.*, 399 S.C. at 331, 732 S.E.2d at 170 (instructing that "a *party*" must move at the close of the evidence) (emphasis added); *Henderson*, 295 S.C. at 446-47, 369 S.E.2d at 656) (holding that "a plaintiff" must "renew his motion at the close of all the evidence")

the third defendant presented its case. The plaintiff then “failed, as required by Rule 50(b) . . . , to make a directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence.” 295 S.C. at 446, 369 S.E.2d 655. The jury found *for the plaintiff* as to defendants A and B, but not defendant C. The Court of Appeals held that the plaintiff could not challenge the jury’s verdict as to defendant C because she failed to renew her motion for a directed verdict against C at the close of all the evidence. 295 S.C. at 446, 369 S.E.2d 655-56.

According to Stephens, the Court of Appeals “did not find waiver as against the two other defendants,” even though the plaintiff “failed to move for a directed verdict” against them at the ‘close of all evidence.’” Pet’r’s Br., at 11 (emphasis omitted). Stephens appears to believe that the jury in *Henderson* returned verdicts in favor of all three defendants and that the plaintiff was allowed to challenge the verdicts as to defendants A and B, but not as to C. But the jury returned verdicts *in the plaintiff’s favor* against defendants A and B, and, accordingly, the plaintiff *did not* challenge those verdicts. It was defendants A and B—after properly filing directed verdict motions at the close of all the evidence—who challenged those verdicts via JNOV motions, which the court granted. It was from the order granting those motions and denying the plaintiff’s motion for JNOV as to defendant C that the plaintiff appealed. *See Henderson*, 295 S.C. at 443, 369 S.E.2d at 654. There was no question on appeal whether the motions made by defendants A and B were procedurally proper. *Henderson*—which confirms that the relevant language of Rule 50(b) is to be applied “strict[ly],” *see* 295 S.C. at 447, 369 S.E.2d at 656—thus provides no support for Stephens’ tortured reading of Rule 50.

3. Stephens Ignores the Purpose of the Requirement.

The rationale of Rule 50(b)'s requirement that a motion for directed verdict be made at the close of all the evidence is that it allows the trial judge to have *all* the evidence, including testimony, documents, and stipulations, before her when deciding whether to submit the case to the jury or rule as a matter of law. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, the "reason for the rule" is "so that the court may decide whether evidence presented after it denied the earlier motion changed the evidentiary landscape in such a way that directed verdict has now become appropriate." 735 S.E.2d at 514. Failing to follow the rule, moreover, would be extremely unfair to the Trial Court and CSX because it would prevent them from having been able to address the issue at the time of the trial. *See, e.g., Janes v. Wal-Mart Stores Inc.*, 279 F.3d 883, 887 (9th Cir. 2002) ("[F]ailing to make a motion for JMOL at the close of all the evidence may lull the opposing party into believing that the moving party has abandoned any challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence and thereby prejudice the opposing party.") (internal quotation marks omitted); *Austin-Westshore Const. Co. v. Federated Dep't Stores, Inc.*, 934 F.2d 1217, 1222 (11th Cir. 1991) ("The rationale is clearly to prevent a review of the sufficiency of the evidence when the moving party has not given notice, through a motion for a directed verdict, of objections to the legal sufficiencies of the evidence while there is still an opportunity for the opposing party to cure any defects in proof.") (internal quotation marks omitted); *Overman v. Gibson Prods. Co. of Thomasville*, 227 S.E.2d 159, 162 (N.C. Ct. App. 1976) ("The search for substantial justice and fair play dictates that a judge's ruling upon a motion for directed verdict should be made upon all of the

evidence before him.”); *see also Maynard v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 540 A.2d 1032, 1034 (Vt. 1987) (“[B]y not requiring the moving party to renew its directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence, we would only be inviting further appeals to this Court on matters which properly belong in the Trial Court—namely, weighing and examining the evidence.”).

Indeed, as noted previously, even apart from a proper directed verdict motion, Stephens had other avenues to raise at trial the issue he now presses on appeal. *See supra* § I.A.2 (discussing how Stephens could have requested jury charges or a particular verdict form). For all these reasons, the Court of Appeals ruled correctly in finding that Stephens failed to preserve the issue for appeal by not moving for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence, and there is no basis to reverse on this ground.

C. CSX’s Purported Admissions or Stipulations Do Not Support Overturning the Jury’s Verdict.

1. Ignoring his fatal procedural errors, Stephens argues, as he did in the Court of Appeals, that admissions made by CSX at trial and a stipulation introduced during his rebuttal undermine the jury’s conclusion that CSX did not breach a duty owed to Stephens’ granddaughter. *See Pet’r’s Br.*, at 14-18. The evidence Stephens relies on was not raised in his motion for a directed verdict, however, and therefore he may not rely on it to undo the jury’s verdict.

Rule 50 provides that a party may move to have a jury’s verdict and judgment thereon “set aside and to have judgment entered *in accordance with* [the moving party’s previous] motion for a directed verdict.” S.C. R. Civ. P. 50(b) (emphasis added). Accordingly, Stephens may challenge the jury’s verdict “*only* [on] the grounds raised in [his] directed verdict motion.” *RFT Mgmt.*, 399 S.C. at 331, 732 S.E.2d at 170–71

(emphasis added); *accord Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 409 S.C. 392, 413, 762 S.E.2d 54, 65 (Ct. App. 2014) (“A motion for JNOV under Rule 50(b) ... cannot raise grounds beyond those raised in the directed verdict.”).¹¹

But as the Trial Court and Court of Appeals recognized, Stephens failed to rely on the same grounds in his pre- and post-verdict motions, and, in fact, *could not have relied on the same grounds*, because the stipulation he cites had not even been entered into when he made his mid-trial motion for a directed verdict. As the Trial Court explained, “I could not have erred in denying Plaintiff’s motion on a basis never stated at trial and not even available to Plaintiff until the conclusion of Plaintiff’s rebuttal case.” R. pp. 3-4; *see Stephens*, 400 S.C. at 518–20, 735 S.E.2d at 513–14 (“By not renewing his motion, Stephens never gave the trial court an opportunity to consider whether the stipulation eliminated the conflict the court saw in the evidence as to this issue. Even if we thought the trial court was mistaken as to the ruling it did make, we have no idea how the court would have ruled in light of the stipulation.”).

This identity requirement is no mere formality; it is what saves Rule 50(b) from violating the “right of trial by jury” guaranteed by the South Carolina Constitution. *See* S.C. Const. art. 1, § 14. This right prevents, among other things, “the substitution of the trial judge’s findings for the verdict of the jury.” *Jenkins v. Pilot Life Ins. Co.*, 186 S.C. 518, 197 S.E. 28, 30 (1938). The reason that a motion for JNOV withstands constitutional scrutiny is that, when a court denies a pre-verdict motion for a directed verdict, it is merely “reserv[ing] [its] decision on [the] motion for a directed verdict until

¹¹ Stephens appears to have recognized this. His JNOV motion was premised on an argument that the Trial Court had previously “erred in failing to direct a verdict in [his] favor.”

after the verdict has been rendered by the jury.” *Id.*; see *RFT Mgmt.*, 399 S.C. at 331, 732 S.E.2d at 171 (“A motion for a JNOV is merely a renewal of the directed verdict motion.”); 409 S.C. at 413, 762 S.E.2d at 65 (“A motion for JNOV under Rule 50(b), SCRCP is a renewal of a directed verdict motion”); *cf. Balt. & Carolina Line v. Redman*, 295 U.S. 654, 659-60 (1935) (holding that this type of reservation satisfies the Seventh Amendment to the United States Constitution); *In re Lower Lake Erie Iron Ore Antitrust Litig.*, 998 F.2d 1144, 1180 (3d Cir. 1993) (requiring “the specific grounds for a JNOV” motion to “be asserted in the motion for a directed verdict . . . avoids infringement of the non-moving party’s” right to jury trial). Having reserved its decision on the pre-verdict motion, a court may not, without unconstitutionally impinging on the province of the jury, consider facts post-verdict that were not raised in the pre-verdict motion.

2. In any event, notwithstanding CSX’s purported admissions and the stipulation concerning the train’s data recorder, there remained sufficient questions of fact to support the denial of Stephens’ JNOV motion on duty and breach.

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